FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/30/2020 10:19 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99367-0 Court of Appeals No. 800558-I Island County Superior Court Case No. 18-2-06549-31

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

DIANE PERILLO and TED PERILLO,

Respondents,

v.

ISLAND COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington;

Petitioner.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW OF ISLAND COUNTY

SK KLVILW OF ISLAND COUNTY

JOHN E. JUSTICE WSBA No. 23042

MICHAEL J. THROGMORTON WSBA No. 44263

Law Lyman Daniel Kamerrer & Bogdanovich, P.S.

P.O. Box 11880 Olympia, WA 98508-1880 (360) 754-3480 Attorneys for Petitioner

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Island County, defendant in the trial court and respondent in the Court of Appeals.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its published decision on November 30, 2020, *Perillo v. Island County*, --- P.3d ---, 2020 WL 7021689 (2020), reversing the trial court and remanding the matter for trial. A copy of the decision is attached. (App. A).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. RCW 64.44.020 requires law enforcement agencies to report properties to the local health officer whenever they "become aware" that the property "has been contaminated by hazardous chemicals." Upon the receipt of such a report, the local health officer is required to post a written warning on the premises within one working day, and to inspect the property within fourteen days. Does RCW 64.44.020 impose a duty upon law enforcement agencies to report properties to the local health officer whenever they receive reports of noxious smells, controlled substances, and drug trafficking?
- 2. Do law enforcement agencies engage in culpable neglect such that the legislative intent exception to the public duty

doctrine applies whenever they fail to report a property as contaminated to the local health officer based upon unverified reports of drug activity at the property?

3. Does it constitute culpable neglect for law enforcement agencies to fail to investigate citizen reports of drug activity to verify allegations of contamination on a particular property?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

Plaintiffs Diane and Ted Perillo purchased a home in Island County from View Sun Investments¹ in February 2017. After closing, they learned that the property had been frequented by drug users. CP 130. To verify these allegations, the Perillos requested public records from the Island County Sheriff's Office (ICSO) and the Island County Health Department (ICHD). CP 130.

The ICSO's records indicated it had received several complaints about the property. The ICSO received a call from a contractor hired to clean the property who saw needles, baggies "appearing to contain controlled substances," and a gun in photos

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 1}$ The Perillos' claims against View Sun Investments are not at issue in this appeal.

someone else had taken of the property. CP 98-99. The contractor called to ask whether law enforcement would take custody of the items but did not request any specific action or investigation. CP 98-99. Another caller reported her suspicion that the property was being used to traffic methamphetamine and stolen property. CP 79. Another reported constant foot traffic in and out of the house, as well as noxious smells emanating from the property. CP 74, 89. In response, the ICSO explained the "limitations in entering a private home, and the expectation of privacy." CP 89. It also "listed some information that may assist in getting a search warrant, and how those things were missing in this case." CP 89.

The ICHD's records indicated it had received additional information that the ICSO had not. In 2015, the ICHD received a complaint that garbage was being dumped on the property by the owners of a local property preservation business. CP 188. In response, the ICHD conducted a drive-by site visit and noted solid waste on the property that had been sorted into piles. CP 188. Later, a contractor hired to clean the property reported finding gas cans, plastic bottles, short lengths of hose, propane tanks, and bottles of antifreeze among the piled trash. CP 188. Another caller reported to the ICHD that he believed methamphetamine was being cooked at

the house and stated he "believe[d] this falls within the jurisdiction of the health department." CP 188. The ICHD referred callers with complaints about possible methamphetamine abuse to the ICSO and to a hotline for reporting methamphetamine abuse. CP 188. The ICHD did not inspect the property, nor did it seek a warrant for inspection or post the property as being contaminated. It also did not directly relay any of the reports it received to the ICSO.

B. Procedural Background.

In 2018, after confirming that the house was contaminated, the Perillos sued View Sun, alleging breach of contract, fraud, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act for View Sun's failure to disclose the contamination. CP 318. The Perillos also sued Island County, alleging the ICSO had been negligent in failing to report the property as being contaminated to county health officials and that the ICHD had negligently failed to post warnings upon or inspect the property under RCW 64.44.020. CP 318-19.

Island County moved for summary judgment, arguing the Perillos' claims were barred by the public duty doctrine. CP 276-285. The Perillos opposed, arguing both the legislative intent and the failure to enforce exceptions applied. CP 17-38. The trial court

found the Perillos' claims barred by the public duty doctrine and granted summary judgment to Island County.

The Court of Appeals accepted discretionary review and reversed, finding that Chapter 64.44 RCW evinced a clear legislative intent to protect potential future purchasers and occupiers of property. Perillo, --- P.3d ---, 2020 WL 7021689 at *15. While acknowledging that RCW 64.44.020 does not define the term "becomes aware," the Court of Appeals looked to the dictionary definitions of "become" and "aware" to conclude that "the plain meaning of RCW 64.44.020 imposes a duty on law enforcement to report to local health officers when it has information that causes it to realize or perceive that hazardous chemicals are polluting a property." *Id.* at *12. Recounting the complaints that Island County had received, the Court concluded that "[w]hether [the] ICSO had sufficient information to trigger its duty here is a question for the trier of fact." *Id.* The Court of Appeals did not rule on the Perillos' claim that the failure to enforce exception applied, nor did it separately analyze the liability of the ICHD, which is immune under RCW 64.44.080.

Island County now seeks review.

ARGUMENT

A. Whether reports of noxious smells and drug activity can trigger a duty on the part of law enforcement to report a property to local health officials as being contaminated is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court

The Court of Appeals erroneously held the ICSO's receipt of reports of noxious smells and the presence of drug activity and paraphernalia was sufficient to trigger its duty to report the property to the local health officer under RCW 64.44.020. *Perillo*, -- - P.3d ---, 2020 WL 7021689 at *12-13. RCW 64.44.020, which has never been interpreted by this or any other appellate court, provides, in pertinent part:

Whenever a law enforcement agency becomes aware that property has been contaminated by hazardous chemicals, that agency shall report the contamination to the local health officer. The local health officer shall cause a posting of a written warning on the premises within one working day of notification of the contamination and shall inspect the property within fourteen days after receiving the notice of contamination.

By requiring law enforcement to report properties based solely on unverified lay reports of drug activity and contamination, the Court of Appeals has presented Washington's law enforcement agencies with an impossible choice: report properties as contaminated based on reported drug activity alone – and face

potential liability when the local health officer subsequently posts required warnings on the property prior to inspection – or fail to report them until knowledge of contamination is acquired and face liability for failing to report under RCW 64.44.020.2 Such an outcome is plainly not what the legislature intended, particularly in light of the sanctity in which the home is held under the state and federal constitutions. See, e.g., State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173, 185, 867 P.2d 593 (1994) (observing that this Court's decisions "have consistently reflected the principle that the home receives heightened constitutional protection" under Art. I, § 7); United States v. Romero-Bustamonte, 337 F.3d 1104, 1107 (9th Cir. 2003) (noting that the home receives "the highest protection against warrantless searches" under the Fourth Amendment). Correctly interpreting the phrase "becomes aware" – which the statute leaves undefined³ – therefore implicates the preservation of constitutional protections afforded to the home and thus represents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

² Unlike health officials who, absent gross negligence or intentional misconduct, are immune from civil liability arising out of the performance of their duties under Chapter 64.44 RCW, law enforcement agencies have no such immunity. *See* RCW 64.44.080.

³ Perillo, --- P.3d ---, 2020 WL 7021689 at *9.

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 64.44.020 is also irreconcilable with the statute as a whole,4 which allocates to local health officials the responsibility to "enter, inspect, and survey at reasonable times any properties for which there are reasonable grounds to believe that the property has become contaminated" (emphasis added). By interpreting the phrase "becomes aware" in RCW 64.44.020 as requiring law enforcement agencies to report properties to local health officials based solely on unconfirmed citizen reports that, at most, provide reasonable grounds to believe that a property has become contaminated, the Court of Appeals has collapsed the separate responsibilities of law enforcement and local health officials into one another. In doing so, it has created an exception to the warrant and pre-inspection posting requirements otherwise imposed upon local health officers. See RCW 64.44.020 (empowering superior, district, and municipal courts to issue warrants for the purpose of administrative inspections based on probable cause). It also failed to heed this Court's admonition that,

⁴ See State v. State v. Conover, 183 Wn.2d 706, 711, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015) (quoting Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. V. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342, 350, 340 P.3d 849 (2015) in holding that in determining legislative intent from [a] statute's plain language, the court considers "the text of the provision in question," as well as "the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory scheme as a whole").

even in the context of a statute that is plain on its face, "[t]he meaning of words in a statute is not gleaned from [the] words alone but from 'all the terms and provisions of the act in relation to the subject of the legislation, the nature of the act, the general object to be accomplished, and consequences that would result from construing the particular statute in one way or another." *State v. Evergreen Freedom Foundation*, 192 Wn.2d 782, 790, 432 P.3d 805 (2019) (quoting *Burns v. City of Seattle*, 161 Wn.2d 129, 146, 164 P.3d 475 (2007)).

Notably, local health officials' ability to enter and inspect is permissive, not mandatory, as is the obligation of law enforcement agencies to report when they "become aware" that a property has been contaminated.⁵ RCW 64.44.020. Under such circumstances, Chapter 64.44 RCW not only affords local health officials immunity from civil liability,⁶ it requires them to wait until contamination is confirmed upon inspection before posting the property, thereby respecting the rights of homeowners. *See Id.* Preserving those

⁵ Significantly, the legislature has also made provision for the payment of such inspections where requested by property owners. *See* Laws of 1999, ch. 292, § 3 (amending RCW 64.44.020 to enable health officers or boards to charge reasonable fees for inspections of "suspected contaminated property requested by property owners") (emphasis added).

⁶ RCW 64.44.080.

protections by properly interpreting the statute in a manner that is internally consistent and in keeping with the legislature's intent represents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. Review is warranted because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the opinions of this Court and with other published decisions of the Courts of Appeals applying the legislative intent exception

Even if reports of drug activity were sufficient to trigger the ICSO's duty to report the property to local health officials, the Court of Appeals erred in finding the ICSO's duty was owed to the Perillos under the legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine. *Perillo*, --- P.3d ---, 2020 WL 7021689 at *13-15. For that exception to apply, not only must "the terms of a legislative enactment evidence an intent to identify and protect a particular and circumscribed class of persons," there must also be "culpable neglect regarding, or indifference to," the violation. *Taylor v. Stevens Cnty.*, 111 Wn.2d 159, 165, 759 P.2d 447 (1988) (quoting *Halvorson v. Dahl*, 89 Wn.2d 673, 678, 574 P.2d 1190 (1978)).

⁷ Donohoe v. State, 135 Wn. App. 824, 844, 142 P.3d 654 (2006) (quoting Bailey v. Town of Forks, 108 Wn.2d 262, 268, 737 P.2d 1257 (1987) as amended 753 P.2d 523).

Here, the Court of Appeals found clear evidence of legislative intent to protect a circumscribed class of "subsequent occupants" of contaminated properties in both RCW 64.44.005 and the legislative history⁸ surrounding Chapter 64.44 RCW. Perillo, --- P.3d ---, 2020 WL 7021689 (2020) at *15 (citing Laws of 1999, ch. 292, § 1). However, even assuming arguendo that these provisions both identify a sufficiently circumscribed class and evince clear legislative intent to protect members of that class, the Court of Appeals failed to identify the requisite "culpable neglect." Because the Court of Appeals applied the legislative intent exception without identifying culpable neglect on the part of the ICSO, its opinion runs contrary to both this Court's precedents and to other published decisions of the Courts of Appeals. See, e.g., Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 757, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) (law enforcement's negligence in performing its duty to serve antiharassment order constituted culpable neglect subjecting city to liability under legislative intent exception); Taylor, 111 Wn.2d at 165 (noting legislative intent exception required showing of

⁸ Given the Court of Appeals determination that RCW 64.44.020 is unambiguous, its reference to legislative history is suspect. *See Freedom Foundation*, 192 Wn.2d at 789 (citing *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 192, 298 P.3d 724 (2018) in holding that "[p]lain language that is not ambiguous does not require construction").

"culpable neglect"); *Halvorson*, 89 Wn.2d at 677-78 (recognizing the legislative intent exception but requiring appellant to also demonstrate "culpable neglect" to establish liability); *Moore v. Wayman*, 85 Wn. App. 710, 724, 934 P.2d 707 (1997) (recognizing that this Court has required "culpable neglect" for the legislative intent exception to apply). Review is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.2(b)(2).

1. Failing to report a property to the local health officer as "contaminated" within the meaning of RCW 64.44.010(2) based on reports of drug activity does not constitute culpable neglect

The Court of Appeals' made no finding of culpable neglect on the part of the ICSO, and its opinion is devoid of any analysis related to culpable neglect. Instead, it held that "RCW 64.44.020 mandates that once law enforcement comes to the realization or perception that hazardous chemicals are polluting a property, it must report the contamination to local health officers." *Perillo*, --- P.3d ---, 2020 WL 7021689 (2020) at *10. By implication then, it appears the Court of Appeals found "culpable neglect" in the ICSO's failure to report the property to the ICHD despite citizen reports of drug use, trafficking, and manufacture.

But RCW 64.44.020 does not require law enforcement agencies to report properties to the local health officer whenever they become hubs for drug use, drug trafficking, or even the manufacture of illegal substances. Rather, it requires law enforcement agencies to report properties to the local health officer when they "become aware that [the] property has been contaminated by hazardous chemicals." RCW 64.44.020. "Contaminated" is defined as "polluted by hazardous chemicals so that the property is unfit for human habitation or use due to immediate or long-term hazards." RCW 64.44.010(2). Not all properties at which drug use, drug trafficking, or illegal drug manufacturing occur meet that definition, and the mere fact that lay reports of smells, drug paraphernalia, and "saturation with meth" were received does not mean that the ICSO had "become aware" that those reports were accurate or that the property at issue had become "contaminated" within the meaning of RCW 64.44.010(2).

Put another way, nothing in Chapter 64.44 RCW requires law enforcement agencies to accept the accuracy of such reports at face value – or to assume that the reported activity has resulted in "contamination" within the meaning of RCW 64.44.020(2) – on pain of tort liability. To the extent the Court of Appeals held to the

contrary, its decision is contrary to established precedent requiring "culpable neglect" before the legislative intent exception may be applied. *See*, *e.g.*, *Washburn*, 178 Wn.2d at 757; *Taylor*, 111 Wn.2d at 165; *Halvorson*, 89 Wn.2d at 677-78; *Moore*, 85 Wn. App. at 724. This Court should accept review to clarify and reaffirm that "culpable neglect" is still a required element of the legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine.

2. The ICSO's failure to investigate reports of drug activity in order to verify citizen reports of contamination does not constitute culpable neglect

Nor does the ICSO's failure to investigate the reports it received to determine their accuracy constitute "culpable neglect." Outside the narrow context of investigations into allegations of child abuse or neglect,9 Washington law does not impose upon law enforcement an obligation to investigate reports of criminal or drug activity, much less the possibility of contamination therefrom. *See Donaldson v. City of Seattle*, 65 Wn. App. 661, 671-72, 831 P.2d 1098 (1992) (noting the problems inherent in imposing an openended duty to investigate and declining to do so on the grounds that

⁹ M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 149 Wn.2d 589, 601, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). See also Wrigley v. State, 195 Wn.2d 65, 76, 455 P.3d 1138 (2020) (noting that the duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050 is "intentionally narrow").

"[l]aw enforcement must be vested with broad discretion to allocate limited resources among the competing demands"). The Court of Appeals decision thus transforms the Perillos' dissatisfaction with the ICSO's failure to allocate its resources in a manner more beneficial to them into a basis for liability under the guise of the legislative intent exception. That cannot be the law.

Law enforcement may "become aware" of contamination in the course of serving warrants, effecting arrests, or investigating criminal activity. In such circumstances, RCW 64.44.020 requires law enforcement to report such knowledge to local health officers, and failing to do so would certainly constitute "culpable neglect." See Halvorson, 89 Wn.2d at 677-78 (finding "culpable neglect" based on city's awareness of deficiency in structure as evidenced by multiple unsuccessful efforts to compel compliance with building code). But law enforcement does not engage in culpable neglect every time it fails to pass along reports of drug activity or unverified allegations of contamination received from lay persons to local health officials. If that were true, mere reports of contamination directed to law enforcement would trigger a required report to the health officer, which in turn would trigger mandatory posting of the property prior to inspection. See RCW 64.44.020. That is plainly

not what the legislature intended. *See Id.* (requiring inspection prior to posting absent report received from law enforcement and preserving warrant requirement when access to property is denied).

Because the Court of Appeals applied the legislative intent exception in the absence of culpable neglect, its decision conflicts with this Court's precedents establishing the elements of that exception to the public duty doctrine. This Court should accept review to clarify the contours of the "culpable neglect" requirement.

CONCLUSION

Under the public duty doctrine, as a general rule, "law enforcement activities are not reachable in negligence." *Keates v. City of Vancouver*, 73 Wn. App. 257, 267, 869 P.2d 88 (1994). Despite the fact that this Court has steadfastly applied that rule for over a century, 10 the Court of Appeals has interpreted Chapter 64.44 RCW as creating a duty on the part of law enforcement agencies to act for the protection of future purchasers or occupiers of homes whenever they receive reports of drug activity on a particular property by reporting that property to the local health

¹⁰ See Fluckiger v. City of Seattle, 103 Wn. 330, 332, 174 P. 456 (1918) (noting that cities are "not bound to secure perfect execution of [their] by-laws," nor for "neglect of duty on the part of [their] officers in respect to their enforcement").

officer as being "contaminated." That determination is wrong as a matter of law and unwise as a matter of public policy. This Court should accept review, clarify the contours of the legislative intent exception, and reinstate the trial court's summary dismissal.