FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/28/2021 11:39 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99367-0 Court of Appeals No. 80055-8-I Island County Superior Court Case No. 18-2-06549-31

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

DIANE PERILLO and TED PERILLO, Trustees of the Diane Perillo Living Trust, dated September 28, 2011,

Respondents/Plaintiffs,

v.

ISLAND COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Petitioner/Defendant,

and

VIEW SUN INVESTMENTS, LLC, a limited liability company,

Defendant.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW OF ISLAND COUNTY

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. ANY ISSUE OF PUBLIC INTEREST WHICH ISLAND COUNTY'S STATUTORY DUTIES MAY PRESENT SHOULD BE DECIDED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

Invoking RAP 13.4(b)(4), Island County claims it is an "issue of substantial public interest" for this Court to determine whether reports of drug activity can trigger a duty of law enforcement to tell local health officials that a property is contaminated. However, this summation compresses a crucial distinction: it is not whether such "reports" themselves trigger a duty, but rather whether awareness of drug activity, "noxious smells," et cetera, trigger such a duty.

Island County's argument is, essentially, that a property must be inspected before it can be posted as "contaminated," and yet—incongruously—that "[l]aw enforcement may 'become aware' of contamination" by "serving warrants, effecting arrests, or investigating criminal activity." Petition for Review at 15. "Awareness," then, is clearly dependent on context. "Awareness" would not necessarily come from just any "report," but whether it did in this case—considering the nature of the

reports, as established above—is for the trier of fact to decide. This is indeed a case of first impression for RCW 64.44.020, but the choice that statute presents for law enforcement is not as "impossible" as Island County worries. For lack of an explicit threshold of "becom[ing] aware," it would be perfectly reasonable for a trial court to find the eyewitness statements and physical evidence brought to Island County's attention regarding the property constituted "aware[ness] that [it] has been contaminated by hazardous chemicals" under RCW 64.44.020.

This reading does not conflict with constitutional protections of the home. This is not a criminal matter such as *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 185, 867 P.2d 593, 599 (1994), or *United States v. Romero-Bustamente*, 337 F.3d 1104, 1107 (9th Cir. 2003), where the constitutional rights of a private citizen facing prosecution are paramount, but a civil case concerning the duties of a public entity under a civil statute. Moreover, RCW 64.44.020 *et seq.* establish a myriad of standards and procedures before a person's home can be deemed unfit for habitation, surely with such protections in mind; confirming the reported presence of contamination is just one initial element. Law enforcement could become "aware" that a property is contaminated without even setting foot on it or otherwise intruding upon a homeowner's privacy. In this case, that is arguably exactly what happened.

As for the role of local health officials after such awareness, Island County is mistaken in claiming this cannot be reconciled with the "reasonable grounds" standard to enter and inspect a potentially contaminated property. This responsibility is cumulative, not contradictory; a law enforcement agency must report contamination of which it becomes aware to local health officials, but those local health officials have a *separate*, independent option to cut to the chase and inspect a property when they have reasonable grounds to do so. Likewise, the warrant and pre-inspection posting requirements acknowledged by Island County are a responsibility separate and independent from the role of law enforcement under RCW 64.44.020.

Island County is simply wrong when it says that law enforcement has only a "permissive . . . obligation" to report property contamination of which they become aware. RCW 64.44.020 clearly states that a "law enforcement agency . . . shall report the contamination to the local health officer" (emphasis added). The Perillos are well aware of the importance of interpreting a statute in context, this being the cornerstone of their argument for a legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine with which the Court of Appeals agreed. If the standards for health officials under RCW 64.44.020 are higher than those for law enforcement, then, it is likely because the legislature determined such a potentially unilateral

decision should not be taken lightly—and that Fourth Amendment considerations are indeed crucial. After all, it is health officials who will conduct any inspection and, if need be, condemnation of a property; all law enforcement has to do is say something when they see something. Island County failed in both of these interrelated obligations, and the consequences for that inaction should remain remanded to the trial court for judgment.

B. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CONFLICTS WITH OTHERS APPLYING THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT EXCEPTION DEPENDS ON FACTS WHICH MUST BE TRIED.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals' decision does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), as Island County suggests, for purportedly conflicting with its other decisions or those of this Court. Generally, and curiously, this is the first time Island County has raised "culpable neglect" or "indifference" to a duty breached as necessary criteria for the legislative intent exception. In neither its response to the Perillos' Motion for Discretionary Review nor its response to the Perillos' appellate brief did Island County ever before mention this supposed omission. Therefore, they are asking the Supreme Court to consider the facts of this case in an unprecedented context, and to make de novo determinations upon the evidence. Respectfully, it is not this Court's place to do so.

1. The Trial Court Should Make Any Necessary Decisions Concerning "Culpable Neglect."

Even should the Court consider this additional element, and deem it necessary before applying the legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine, there are issues of fact as to whether Island County committed culpable neglect or demonstrated indifference relative to a duty under RCW 64.44.020. It is for the trier of fact to decide whether evidence sufficient to find that neglect exists. The Court of Appeals indeed did not "[find] 'culpable neglect'," Petition for Review at 12; what it did find are facts indicating that, considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party (the Perillos), Island County could be liable. The Court of Appeals has not created a new duty for law enforcement, as Island County fears; it simply determined the facts of this matter may indicate Island County had sufficient "awareness" under RCW 64.44.020. The threshold for entry of summary judgment is high; for a decision whether to overturn such an order, this ambiguity is sufficient.

Cases cited by Island County which supposedly conflict with the instant decision in fact only further illustrate that the trial court should address any dispute over "culpable neglect." In Washburn v. City of Federal Way, petitioner sought review of a Court of Appeals decision concerning the verdict after a jury trial—by which time issues of

negligence would have already been determined. See 178 Wn.2d 732, 738, 310 P.3d 1275, 1279 (2013). By contrast, the Perillos' appeal was interlocutory, stemming from a summary judgment motion by a single party out of many. Meanwhile, in Halvorson v. Dahl, the Court found mere "allegations" of "long-term knowledge of, and inadequate response to" statutory violations could constitute "culpable neglect," and remanded the matter to trial "without consider[ing] whether falling short of actual and long-standing knowledge of noncompliance would support a claim for relief." 89 Wn.2d 673, 678, 574 P.2d 1190, 1193 (1978); see Taylor v. Stevens County, 111 Wn.2d 159, 165–66, 759 P.2d 447, 451 (1988) (confirming that "[t]he requirement was met . . . with allegations" of "actual and long-standing knowledge of noncompliance."). If need be, then, the Perillos would ask for the opportunity for such consideration.

Should the Court decide to consider this element, however, the facts on record amply indicate culpable negligence on the part of Island County. Years of documented reports to—and amongst—the Island County Sheriff's Office and Island County Public Health demonstrate "long-term knowledge of, and [an] inadequate response to" the Property's contamination under RCW 64.44.020. See Halvorson, 89 Wn.2d at 678, 574 P.2d at 1193; Taylor, 111 Wn.2d at 165–66, 759 P.2d at 451. Hence,

acts potentially constituting culpable neglect need only be generally alleged by the Perillos.

The facts of the case and the particulars of any negligence simply have not been tried, and indeed, the Court of Appeals generally determined that the trial court erred in foreclosing this possibility. To now prevent the trial court from being able to consider such questions of negligence would only compound that error. Still, should it wish to determine the matter of culpable neglect itself, the evidence before this Court is sufficient to support the factor's existence.

2. The Trial Court Should Make Any Necessary Decisions Concerning A "Duty To Investigate."

With all of this in mind, questions as to any "duty to investigate" on the part of the Island County Sheriff's Office are beside the point. This appeal is not concerned with an "open-ended duty" of the kind which Island County cautions in citing *Donaldson v. City of Seattle*, 65 Wn. App. 661, 671–72, 831 P.2d 1098, 1104 (1992). The question is not whether there was more the Island County Sheriff's Office hypothetically should have learned or done but—having learned what the evidence shows they did—whether an explicit statutory duty was triggered. Even acknowledging that law enforcement is generally afforded unique protection from claims of negligence, the plain language of RCW

64.44.020 is undeniable—only the tipping point for its application is at issue.

To the extent that RCW 64.44.020 does not explicitly establish a threshold for "aware[ness]," it also does not establish the point at which disregard of such awareness would become "culpable negligence," either by law enforcement not reporting a property to the local health officer as "contaminated" or by not further investigating reports of drug activity. Island County cites nothing for its supposition that it would not be negligent for their Sheriff's Office to "fail[] to pass along reports of drug activity or . . . contamination received . . . to local health officials." Petition for Review at 15. This indicates their own perceived threshold of "awareness" is no less speculative than that of which they accuse the Perillos. However, the trial court can determine the appropriate threshold based on the objective facts in evidence. That is a prerogative which this Court should let the trial court exercise.

VI. CONCLUSION

On the whole, both of the grounds for review under RAP 13.4 proffered in this case are fundamentally—and fatally—premature for Island County's petition for review. Whether or not Island County's statutory duties under RCW 64.44.020 implicate a public interest is contingent upon the factual matter of whether it collectively had "awareness" sufficient to trigger those duties. Similarly, it would be inappropriate for this Court to judge a potential conflict with its past decisions or those of the Court of Appeals when "culpable neglect" as an alleged element of the Perillos' claim was never raised by Island County until now, and when a finding thereof requires further findings of fact. Likewise, questions of a "duty to investigate" on the part of the Island County Sheriff's Office are secondary to a factual finding of whether they were "aware" that the Property was contaminated regardless. All of these determinations are within the sole purview of the trial court, and Island County's petition should be denied accordingly, together with such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.